

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

Adaptation and implementation guide





Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

Adaptation and implementation guide

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities: adaptation and implementation guide

ISBN 978-92-4-004885-0 (electronic version) ISBN 978-92-4-004886-7 (print version)

© World Health Organization 2022

Some rights reserved. This work is available under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO licence (CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/3.0/igo).

Under the terms of this licence, you may copy, redistribute and adapt the work for non-commercial purposes, provided the work is appropriately cited, as indicated below. In any use of this work, there should be no suggestion that WHO endorses any specific organization, products or services. The use of the WHO logo is not permitted. If you adapt the work, then you must license your work under the same or equivalent Creative Commons licence. If you create a translation of this work, you should add the following disclaimer along with the suggested citation: "This translation was not created by the World Health Organization (WHO). WHO is not responsible for the content or accuracy of this translation. The original English edition shall be the binding and authentic edition".

Any mediation relating to disputes arising under the licence shall be conducted in accordance with the mediation rules of the World Intellectual Property Organization (http://www.wipo.int/amc/en/mediation/rules/).

Suggested citation. Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities: adaptation and implementation guide. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2022. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

Cataloguing-in-Publication (CIP) data. CIP data are available at http://apps.who.int/iris.

Sales, rights and licensing. To purchase WHO publications, see http://apps.who.int/bookorders. To submit requests for commercial use and queries on rights and licensing, see https://www.who.int/copyright.

Third-party materials. If you wish to reuse material from this work that is attributed to a third party, such as tables, figures or images, it is your responsibility to determine whether permission is needed for that reuse and to obtain permission from the copyright holder. The risk of claims resulting from infringement of any third-party-owned component in the work rests solely with the user.

General disclaimers. The designations employed and the presentation of the material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of WHO concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries. Dotted and dashed lines on maps represent approximate border lines for which there may not yet be full agreement. The mention of specific companies or of certain manufacturers' products does not imply that they are endorsed or recommended by WHO in preference to others of a similar nature that are not mentioned. Errors and omissions excepted, the names of proprietary products are distinguished by initial capital letters.

All reasonable precautions have been taken by WHO to verify the information contained in this publication. However, the published material is being distributed without warranty of any kind, either expressed or implied. The responsibility for the interpretation and use of the material lies with the reader. In no event shall WHO be liable for damages arising from its use.

Layout by Harri Aittasalo; illustrations by Miguel Mendes.

Contents

Acknowledgements	iv
Introduction	vii
Background	vii
Overview of the course structure	vii
Adaptation	vii
What has already been done to facilitate the adaptation process?	ix
How to use this guide	ix
Part 1: Contextual and cultural adaptation plan	1
1) Establish an adaptation team	1
2) Map local services and available resources	2
3) Translate materials to the selected local languages	3
4) Adaptation team meeting 1: workshop with adaptation team to make minimal linguistic	
and cultural adaptations and decide on adaptations to reduce barriers to attendance	7
Adaptations that are recommended to ensure minimal acceptability and relevance	9
Optional: focus group discussions and/or in-depth interviews with caregivers	
and community-based care providers	11
5) Stakeholders' consultation	12
6) Adaptation team meeting 2	14
7) Pre-pilot field-test of adapted materials	16
8) Adaptation team meeting 3: workshop with adaptation team to make further changes	18
Part 2: Implementation considerations	20
Part 3: Core components of the training package	22
Part 4: Choosing to make optional modules available	23
Part 5: redesigning the caregiver skills training course from group to individual format and other	
significant modifications	24
References	25
Annex 1: Resource list for caregivers (participants' guide template)	26
Annex 2: Adaptation documentation form	27

Adaptation and implementation guide Acknowledgements

Project coordination

The development and field testing of the caregiver skills training package has been coordinated by Chiara Servili under the direction of Tarun Dua, Shekhar Saxena (until 2018) and Dévora Kestel (from 2019), WHO Department of Mental Health and Substance Use.

Content development

Main contributors

(in alphabetical order, with affiliation at time of contribution)

External experts: Felicity L. Brown (War Child Holland and University of Amsterdam, Netherlands), Laura Pacione (University of Toronto, Canada), Erica Salomone (University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy), Stephanie Shire (University of Oregon, United States of America (USA)).

WHO technical staff: Chiara Servili (Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, Headquarters)

Technical inputs and review

(in alphabetical order, with affiliation at time of review)

External experts: Nazmin Abdullah (Universiti Kebangsaan, Malaysia), Amina Abubakar (KEMRI-Wellcome Trust, Kenya), Julnar Al-Kaied (International Medical Corps, Syrian Arab Republic), Carlos G. Alonso-Rivera (International Pediatric Association, Mexico), Ana Andreeva-Sapundzhieva (Center for Social Rehabilitation and Integration, Bulgaria), Maria Paz Araya (Ministry of Health, Chile), Anara Asanalieva (Center for Children with Autism, Kyrgyzstan), Gulnaz Azhymambetova (Department of Health, Kyrgyzstan), Alexandra Bagney (Médecins sans Frontières, Spain), Merry Barua (Action for Autism, India), Tolulope Bella-Awusah (University of Ibadan, Nigeria), Erlinda Borromeo (Autism Hearts Foundation, USA), Daniel Bulte (University of Oxford, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland (United Kingdom)), July Caballero (Ministry of Mental Health, Peru), Carmen Julissa Cayo Medina (Instituto Nacional de Salud Mental, Peru), Ya-Chih Chang (Autism Speaks, USA), Tony Charman (King's College London, United Kingdom), Biyuan Chen (Sun Yat-Sen University, China), Mariana Chervenkova (Autism Today Association, Bulgaria), Chung-Hsin Chiang (NCU, Taipei), Youngmin Choi (Republic of Korea), Brian Cort (Canada), Carla Cortez (Peru), Sebastián Cukier (PANAACEA, Argentina), Cristiane Silvestre de Paula (Mackenzie Presbyterian University, Brazil), Luc de Montigny (McGill University, Canada), Petrus De Vries (University of Cape Town, South Africa), Limia Dewan (BRAC Centre, Bangladesh), Marie-Charlotte Dextraze (Madawaska Valley Homeschoolers, Canada), Gauri Divan (Sangath, India), Pamela Dixon (Autism Speaks, USA), Winnie Dorego (Eastern Visayas Centre for Health Development, Philippines), Svyatoslav Dovbnya (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Dzhamilia Dunganova (Kyrgyz State University, Kyrgyzstan), Patrick Dwyer (University of California, Davis, USA), Julian Eaton (CBM West Africa, Togo), Aala El-Khani (University of Manchester, United Kingdom), Mayada Elsabbagh (McGill University, Canada), Mohamed Ali AbdulFattah Mohamed ElShazly (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Camilla Ferrante (University of Milano-Bicocca, Italy), Magdalene Foo (Institute of Mental Health, Singapore), Natsuko Fukuda (Republic of Korea), Daniel Fung Shuen Sheng (Institute of Mental Health, Singapore), Galiya

Gaas (Hand in Hand, Kyrgyzstan), Eman Gaber (Cairo University, Egypt), Fe Garcia (World Vision International, USA), Ricardo Garcia (University of Chile, Chile), Jason Garner (Dubai Health Care City, United Arab Emirates), Tewodros Getye (Nehemiah Autism Center, Ethiopia), Mehdi Ghanadzade (VRF Institute, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Lucky Ghose (BRAC Centre, Bangladesh), Deepa Grover (UNICEF), Sudhanshu Grover (Action for Autism, India), Fiorella Guerrero (University of Florida, USA), Hailiang Guo (China Women's Development Foundation, China), Syed Usman Hamdani (Human Development Research Foundation, Pakistan), Charlotte Hanlon (Addis Ababa University, Ethiopia), Sarah Louise Harrison (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Homayoun Hashemi (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Paola Hebe Jelonche (Fundación Visibilia, Argentina), Rosa Hoekstra (King's College London, United Kingdom), Maria del Milagro Huaman Lu (Soy Austista y Que!, Peru), Yasmin Hussain (SEAMEO SEN, Malaysia), Judy Hutchings (Bangor University, United Kingdom), Alaa Ibrahim (McGill University, Canada), Ivan Ivanov (Community Support Centre, Bulgaria), Seokyeon Ji (Republic of Korea), Sazlina Kamaralzaman (Universiti Kebangsaan, Malaysia), Tsveta Kamensky (UNICEF Bulgaria), Connie Kasari (University of California, USA), Raheleh Khansari (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Leekyung Kim (Republic of Korea), Yeni Kim (Republic of Korea), Yongjik Kim (Autism Society of Korea, Republic of Korea), Margarita Kinshina (Ministry of Health, Russian Federation), Phiona Naserian Koyiet (World Vision, Kenya), Vibha Krishnamurthy (Ummeed Child Development Center, India), Kim Kwang-Hee (Republic of Korea), Samer Laila (International Medical Corps, Turkey), Pierina Landolfi (PANAACEA, Argentina), Layma Lankmane (The Way Out Fund, Russian Federation), Janet Lau (University of Hong Kong, China, Hong Kong SAR), Rachel Leung (China, Hong Kong SAR), Janice Light (Penn State University, USA), Miroslava Macheva (Community Centre for Child and Parent Support, Bulgaria), Milena Marinova (UNICEF Bulgaria), Rositsa Markova (Centre for Complex Care for Children with Disabilities and Chronic Conditions, Bulgaria), Helen McConachie (Newcastle University, United Kingdom), Sharynne McLeod (Charles Sturt University, Australia), Nermeen Abdelaziz M. Moharam (Médecins du Monde, Egypt), Inna Monova (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Cecilia Montiel Nava (Autism Speaks, USA), Carina Morillo (Fundación Brincar por un autismo feliz, Argentina), Tatiana Morozova (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Lucia Murillo (Autism Speaks, USA), Basma T. M. Nakhleh (Pediatric Society of Palestine, occupied Palestinian territory, including east Jerusalem), Young Namkung (Republic of Korea), Thi Nha Trang Nguyen (Vinschool Primary, Viet Nam), Elisey Osin (The Way Out Fund, Russian Federation), Narges Parastari Farkoosh (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Diane Philipp (University of Toronto, Canada), Shawn Picard (Canada), Rolando Pomalima (National Institute of Mental Health, Peru), Maryam Pourseid (State Welfare Organization of Iran, the Islamic Republic of Iran), Marie-Helen Prud'homme (McGill University Health Centre, Canada), Atif Rahman (University of Liverpool, United Kingdom), Rocio del Pilar Ramirez Flores (Instituto Nacional de Salud Mental, Peru), Salvador Ramírez Gallegos (Mexico), Alexia Rattazzi (PANAACEA, Argentina), Kara Reagon (Autism Speaks, USA), Brian Reichow (University of Florida, USA), Peter Rosenbaum (CanChild Centre, Canada), Cécile Rousseau (McGill University, Canada), Eoin Ryan (International Medical Corps, USA), Sayed Abdullah Sadat (MBC, Islamic Republic of Iran), Bettina Schwethelm (UNICEF), Mawathage Fatima Sudarshi Perera Seneviratne (University of Colombo, Sri Lanka), Koyeli Sengupta (Ummeed Child Development Center, India), Hibah Abdullah Shata (Child Early Intervention Medical Center, United Arab Emirates), Rehana Sherif Yekatit (12 Hospital, Ethiopia), Andy Shih (Autism Speaks, USA), Kimberlee Shoecraft (International Rescue Committee, USA), Norbert Skokauskas (Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Norway), Sofía Sol Hilsenrat (Fundacion Brincar por un autismo feliz, Argentina), Wei-Tsuen Soong (China), Maria Stancheva (Center for Social Rehabilitation and Integration, Bulgaria), Claudine Storbeck (Centre for Deaf Studies – HI HOPES - University of the Witwatersrand, South Africa), Delfina Suaya (Ministry of Health of the province of

Buenos Aires, Argentina), Inyoung Sung (Republic of Korea), Markos Tesfaye (Jimma University, Ethiopia), Hasnah Toran (Permata Kurnia, Malaysia), Vivek Prabhakar Vajaratkar (Sangath Centre, India), Elie S. Valencia (Columbia University, USA), Desislava Vassileva (Autism Today Association, Bulgaria), Krista Vick (University of Saskatchewan, Canada), Manuela Wälchli (Switzerland), Saima Wazed Hossain (Shuchona Foundation, Bangladesh), Inka Weissbecker (International Medical Corps, USA), Nickoleta Yoncheva (Karin Dom, Bulgaria), Anastasia Zalogina (Naked Heart Foundation, Russian Federation), Xiaobing Zou (Sun Yat-Sen University, China).

WHO technical staff: Claudina Cayetano (Regional Office for the Americas), Ken Carswell (Department of Mental Health and Substance Use, Headquarters), Bernadette Daelmans (Department of Maternal, Newborn, Child and Adolescent Health and Ageing, Headquarters), Pauline Kleinitz (Non-Communicable Diseases, Headquarters), Khalid Saeed (Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean), Sabine Van Tuyll Van Serooskerken Rakotomalala (Department for the Social Determinants of Health, Headquarters).

Financial contribution

WHO gratefully acknowledges the financial support provided by Autism Speaks

Introduction

This adaptation and implementation guide is part of a package of materials for delivery of WHO's *Caregiver Skills Training for Families of Children with Developmental Delays or Disabilities* (CST).

Background

This caregiver skills training package was developed to facilitate access to parenting skills and strategies for caregivers of children with developmental delays or disabilities.

The intended audience is caregivers of children aged 2–9 years with developmental delays or disabilities, with a specific focus on caregivers of children with delays and impairments in social and communication domains. However, a child does not need to have a diagnosis for the training package to be used, and the age range can be adjusted slightly depending on the needs of the setting.

Overview of the course structure

The caregiver skills training course is designed to be delivered in 9 group sessions and 3 home visits by trained and supervised non-specialist facilitators. Additional group sessions and home visits can be offered to allow more time for strategies on caregiver well-being and for strategies tailored to the needs of caregivers of children who have little or no spoken language.

The caregiver skills training materials include the following:

- Introduction;
- Adaptation and implementation guide;
- Facilitators' guide: group sessions 1–9;
- Participants' guide: group sessions 1–9;
- Home visit guide for facilitators;
- Caregivers of children who have little or no spoken language: facilitators and participants' guides (forthcoming);
- Caregiver well-being: facilitators and participants' guides (forthcoming).

Adaptation

The caregiver skills training package has been carefully developed and informed by both clinicians and caregiver-mediated interventions implemented in high-income and low- and middle-income countries that have research evidence supporting their influence on children's behaviour and caregivers' skills. The package was informed by experiences in different regions and sociocultural contexts. Many issues are the same everywhere; however, there is a need to examine the unique characteristics of the local context carefully to ensure that the package reflects the needs of the course beneficiaries as well as possible.

Adaptation is the process of deciding on and producing the changes needed in the training strategies and training materials to fit a country's circumstances.

Certain adaptations may be needed to make the package suitable for use in different cultures and contexts. There is evidence in psychotherapy that suggests that cultural adaptations improve the effectiveness of interventions. However, there is always a balance between maintaining fidelity to an evidence-based intervention versus ensuring cultural and contextual "fit". The goals of adaptation are to ensure that: 1) the content of the training package is comprehensible, culturally acceptable and relevant to local participants; 2) the package is responsive to the local socioeconomic, political and cultural context; and 3) the training course is delivered in a way that meets participants' needs. The adaptation process should aim to maximize accessibility, feasibility and acceptability, and to reduce foreseeable barriers to participation.

In general, it is recommended that the core strategies and components of the training course should be maintained while minor changes to other components – such as names of characters in stories and demonstrations, certain illustrations and examples of everyday activities, toys and games – should be made to improve acceptability, comprehensibility and relevance of the package.

Adaptations can be made to two elements of the training course: the training materials (i.e. the content of the facilitators and participants' guides) and the training process (e.g. the frequency and setting of group sessions, provision of additional services, supervision and training models etc.).

Recommended adaptations to the training materials include: 1) translation into the local language, ensuring that language use (vocabulary, phrasing, verbal style etc.) is culturally appropriate, the literacy level is consistent with that of the intended participants, and technical terms are explained in culturally and linguistically appropriate terms; 2) changing aspects of content, including the names and types of characters in stories and role-plays so that they are familiar to the participants, adding local activities, toys, games, stories or examples and modifying other aspects of the package as needed (e.g. writing activities). For the convenience of the adaptation team, an adaptation ready version of the facilitators' guide, in which the first instances of character names are highlighted in yellow, is available. Any changes made to the facilitators' guide should also be made in the corresponding section of the participants' guide.

Recommended adaptations to the training process include adaptations that improve feasibility and acceptability – such as choosing an appropriate group session schedule (e.g. weekly, biweekly, daytime, after hours), providing childcare, refreshments, or using culturally-appropriate additional activities such as welcome and closing rituals.

It is expected that most adaptations will take account of the context in which the course is to be delivered. Some changes based on culture are also expected, especially to ensure that terminology for behaviours, relationships etc. is locally appropriate and understandable. It is recommended that only changes that are deemed essential to implementation of the caregiver skills training package should be made at first and that additional changes should be made after pilot-testing and collecting feedback from caregivers and facilitators.

If an adaptation team wishes to make significant changes to the structure of the course (e.g. conducting it as an individual course rather than a group course, removing sections of content, changing the number of sessions), it is recommended that this be done only after careful consultation, that changes are well documented, and that the course is evaluated to assess for effectiveness in the modified format.

In summary:

- Make only recommended adaptations and those deemed essential.
- Discuss and document the rationale for any changes.
- Sometimes it may be better to test a particular intervention or way of delivery. If required, changes can be made in the subsequent revision.

What has already been done to facilitate the adaptation process?

- Developers have tried to reduce the need for cultural adaptation by:
 - utilizing universal examples, themes and phrasing;
 - using plain language as much as possible;
 - avoiding Western biases (e.g. individualism, consumerism);
 - aiming to ensure that the package is consistent with the situation of participants in lowresource settings;
 - avoiding barriers to implementation.
- Developers have identified and highlighted items and areas in the training materials for which adaptation may be necessary and have developed an adaptation-ready version of the training materials.

The adaptation documentation form included in Annex 2 lists suggested and optional items for adaptation or consideration for adaptation. The adaptation-ready version of the materials is an electronic copy of the facilitators and participants' guides with minor items to be considered for cultural adaptation marked by "[consider need for adaptation]" in the text. Character names in stories and role-plays are highlighted in yellow so they can be easily identified and evaluated for cultural appropriateness. The adaptation-ready version of the materials can be obtained upon request.

 Developers have identified the key active elements thought to contribute to caregiver skills training package's effectiveness.

In each session key messages and tips capture essential information and strategies that are perceived as instrumental for improving caregivers' skills. These should not be changed except in consultation with experts, and only when considered essential to the package's acceptability.

How to use this guide

This guide provides information on how to adapt caregiver skills training materials and delivery strategies to the local context. It includes guidance on development and implementation of contextual and cultural adaptation plans. It provides important considerations to guide the course implementation, including for making available additional group sessions and home visits and other significant modifications to the caregiver skills training delivery strategy. In addition, core components of the package are described. These are the key elements or characteristics that are thought to be essential to the effectiveness of the caregiver skills training intervention and should be modified only after careful consideration.

At each step of the adaptation process, proposed and agreed adaptations should be recorded systematically on the adaptation documentation form (see Annex 2). The adaptation documentation form is an integral part of the adaptation process. This form is based on the Bernal framework which is a method for coding adaptation of interventions (1). This framework allows for documenting several significant elements of intervention adaptation, namely: language; persons; metaphors; content; concepts; goals; methods and context.

Part 1: Contextual and cultural adaptation plan

This section outlines steps to be carried out at the national/local level. Figure 1 shows an outline of the recommended process.

Figure 1. Overview of the adaptation plan for the caregiver skills training package



Notes about the timing of activities

- Teams that include bilingual master trainers may want to do the training of master trainers before the materials are translated and before the adaptation team meeting 1. This ensures that the bilingual master trainers have a clear understanding of the concepts in the package before being involved in the adaptation process.
- Teams that include bilingual master trainers may want to hold the adaptation team meeting 1 before the materials are translated. This can allow these team members to facilitate the translation by identifying challenging terms and concepts and proposing translations and additional explanations.

1) Establish an adaptation team

Rationale:

This step ensures that adequate expertise is available to support the adaptation and enhances local engagement of key stakeholders.

Methods:

- Prior to any adaptation, a project manager will be appointed to oversee the process. The person selected should have appropriate knowledge of caregiver skills training interventions and the cultural adaptation process. This task may be shared by more than one person if necessary.
- In most cases, the project manager will select an adaptation advisory group.
- The adaptation advisory group should consist of approximately 12–18 people and can include:
 - a core local adaptation team (see below);
 - a researcher in charge of the evaluation (if applicable);
 - translators;

- representatives from local health departments;
- potential end-users of the training course;
- potential future facilitators of the training course;
- other local experts and service providers;
- other local agency representatives and policy-makers;
- other community experts (e.g. religious leaders, elders, community group leaders).
- The core local adaptation team should have a target size of 5–6 people. This group should comprise health research workers or health professionals, selected for their knowledge of mental health, child development, and familiarity with the local language, community, culture and the intended participants' socioeconomic, political and cultural context. Bilingual specialists in mental health, child development, and public health are extremely valuable.
- The core local adaptation team members should expect to commit to reviewing all the training materials personally and attending the adaptation workshops.
- Two members of the core local adaptation team will need to deliver the intervention to
 participants in the pre-pilot acceptability trial and at least one team member will be needed to
 observe the intervention.
- The roles of the other members of the adaptation advisory group are explained in further detail below.
- In selecting and coordinating this group, issues of language should be considered. Future steps (in terms of languages used and translation processes) should be planned accordingly.

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks could include: 1) inadequate cultural and or contextual knowledge to inform the adaptation; and 2) inadequate engagement from key stakeholders who will be vital in enabling implementation of the adapted intervention.

2) Map local services and available resources

Rationale:

It is important for each member of the adaptation advisory group to be aware of the context in which the intervention will be conducted. In addition, a list of local resources for children and families will need to be compiled, added to the participants' guides (see Annex 1) and made available to facilitators and trainers.

The project manager is responsible for conducting a preliminary situational analysis of mental health, family and child development services in the target community/country.

Where possible, the caregiver skills training intervention should be embedded into existing services.

Methods:

The project manager should do the following:

- Review any relevant local legal frameworks that may relate to the caregiver skills training course, and their limitations (e.g. child protection legislation regarding the reporting of suspected child maltreatment).
- Compile a list of available services that may be relevant to the participants in this training course (e.g. health services, clinics, NGOs, food banks, housing services, respite services, charities).
- Clarify within the current health system the range of available personnel, level of competence, available referrals and interventions.

- Consider where the caregiver skills training course could be embedded into existing services.
- Develop a provisional plan for including optional modules in the course. See Part 5 of this document.
- Compile a comprehensive summary document for the adaptation team.

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks could include: 1) Inadequate understanding of the context in which the course is to be delivered; and 2) inability to provide caregivers with information on available options for additional support if needed.

3) Translate materials to the selected local languages

Rationale:

Translation into local languages is a critical aspect of adaptation. Back-translation is recommended to assess the adequacy of translation and to ensure that relevant concepts are captured well. However, if the adaptation team includes bilingual specialists who are familiar with the concepts and terminology of the package, they may be able to validate the accuracy of the translation, thus eliminating the need for a full back-translation. However, back-translation of at least the key messages and tips (skills and strategies) is recommended.

Methods:

- An electronic adaptation-ready copy of the facilitators and participants' guides is available upon request. Items or areas that are likely to require cultural adaptation are marked by colour highlights within the text. Table 1 provides an overview of specific terms and concepts that are likely to require additional attention in the translation and adaptation process.
- Translation and back-translation will be completed. At minimum, back translation of the key
 messages and tips (skills and strategies) is recommended.
- The translation will be completed by one or two (where resources allow) professional translators. Ideally, these should be selected on the basis of their knowledge/experience in translating materials relating to child development, mental health, and/or family interventions. They should be native speakers of the target language, and fluent in the source language (i.e. English; as per ISPOR adaptation guidelines) (2).
- The back-translation will be completed by a professional translator who is ideally a native speaker of the source language (i.e. English), and fluent in the target language (as per ISPOR guidelines) (3). The translator should be selected on the basis of knowledge/experience in translating materials relating to child development, mental health and/or family interventions. She/he should have no prior knowledge of the materials and should not see the source materials before or during the translation process. The back-translation will be literal rather than conceptual, allowing for identification of areas lacking clarity (3).
- The translators should document any necessary changes to the literal translation that are made to ensure comprehensibility using the adaptation documentation form (see Annex 2 at the end of this document).
- The translators should mark with a colour highlight any terminology or concepts that are likely to require the creation of an explanatory note within the text. This should be recorded into the adaptation documentation form.
- The decision to translate optional modules at this stage will be based on the provisional plan for optional modules. At a minimum, a summary of each of the optional modules will be translated.

Table 1. Specific terms and concepts that are likely to require additional attention in the translation and adaptation process, organized by where the term or word is introduced in the ca.

Term/Concept	Definition	Example of how it is used in the package	Session where it is introduced
Delay	Children with a developmental delay achieve developmental milestones (e.g. speaking, walking, social behaviour) later than expected for their age (or corrected age if they were born prematurely) (4).	Caregiver skills training is designed to benefit families of children with developmental delays or disabilities.	1
Development	The increase in a child's mental, social, emotional and physical skills and abilities over time <i>(4)</i> .	The doctor explained to Mary and her husband, "I have checked your child's development."	1
Disability	Disability is due to the interaction between health conditions and environmental and personal factors. Disability can occur at three levels: impairment in body function or structure (such as cerebral palsy), a limitation in activity (such as an inability to communicate), and a restriction in participation (such as exclusion from school) (4).	Caregivers can help children with developmental delays and disabilities learn.	1
Engagement; engaged	Being interested in doing or sharing an activity with another person.	Getting children engaged in interaction is one of the goals of the package.	1
Shared engagement	Noticing another person and your shared activity. In shared engagement, the adult and the child should be doing an activity together. Both should have a role and be focused on each other and the activity.	Shared engagement is best for learning.	1
Gesture	A movement of part of the body, especially a hand or the head, to express an idea or meaning.	The gestures we focus on in the package are point, show and give.	1
Improvement	Change in a positive way. (In some languages, the word for "change" or "positive change" may be more suitable than "improvement".)	Caregivers can learn new skills to help their children participate in everyday activities and improve their behaviour.	1

Term/Concept	Definition	Example of how it is used in the package	Session where it is introduced
Regulated	Calm and ready to learn. Also referred to as "cool" and "green" on the behaviour thermometer.	Caregivers can help children stay engaged and regulated.	1
Dysregulated or not regulated	Very upset, angry or overexcited. A child who is dysregulated needs help to calm down. The signs you may notice are: Crying, screaming, whining, tantrum or meltdown behaviour, running away, rolling on the floor, overexcitement or running around.	A child who is showing "red" or "hot" behaviour on the behaviour thermometer is dysregulated.	1
Green/cool	Calm, alert and ready to learn, which is also called "regulated". Some signs you may notice are: Smiling and laughing, the child's body is still and relaxed and the child is making sounds or talking.	Children may show green or cool behaviour.	1
Warm/yellow	Showing the first signs of frustration, distress or upset. The signs you may notice are: making repetitive sounds, whining, fussing, fidgeting, moving around, looking around, not taking turns or participating in the routine, or becoming not engaged. Warm or yellow behaviour may be a warning sign for red or hot behaviour.	Children may show warm or yellow behaviour. (1
Hot/red	Very upset, angry or overexcited. A child who is hot/ red needs help to calm down. The signs you may notice are: Crying, screaming, whining, tantrum or meltdown behaviour, running away, rolling on the floor, overexcitement or running around.	Children sometimes show hot or red behaviour. (See behaviour thermometer)	1
Transition	A change from one activity to another activity. Difficult transitions often happen when a child is asked to change from an activity they like (e.g. playing) to one that they don't like (e.g. going to bed).	A child may become dysregulated because of a difficult transition.	1
Attention	Taking special notice or care of someone or something.	Notice when your child is behaving well or doing something well, and respond with attention, smiles and kind words.	1

Term/Concept	Definition	Example of how it is used in the package	Session where it is introduced
Attention	Being focused on something while ignoring other things in the environment.	Shared engagement is when the child is paying attention to two things: you and the activity that you are doing together.	2
Stigma	Negative attitudes and beliefs, and a strong feeling of disapproval that some people in a society have towards certain groups – usually unfairly. Stigma can lead to judgement, negative actions and discrimination.	Some caregivers of children with developmental delays and disabilities experience stigma in their communities	2
People games	A way to play when children are not playing with toys or objects but rather play by interacting with people (e.g. clapping, singing, swinging and chase games).	Children of all ages enjoy people games.	2
Simple play with objects	A way to play when children first start to play with toys or objects and they do single actions with them (e.g. rolling a ball, pushing a toy along the ground, shaking or dropping objects).	Children who like to drop, bang and shake objects are doing simple play.	2
Put together play	A way to play that typically comes after simple play. Children play at this level by stacking, putting objects inside containers and building (e.g. putting rocks in a box, stacking cups on top of each other, building a tower out of objects).	Children who like to stack, build and put items into containers are doing put together play.	2
Early pretend play	The next way to play after put together play. Children start to use toys in an imaginary way to do common activities (e.g. playing with toy animals by putting them together in a farm; pretend to pour a drink into cups, pretending to feed a baby).	Children who like to do simple things with toy animals and dolls are doing early pretend play.	2
Advanced pretend play	The next way to play after early pretend play that involves more imagination and creativity (e.g. the child pretends to be a mother cooking a meal for the family, the child pretends that dolls and animals are alive and walking, talking, eating or sleeping).	Children who like to pretend dolls and animals are alive are doing advanced pretend play.	2
Routine	A routine is an activity that has a set of clear small steps that make sense and make up a story. Routines can be restarted and repeated. Both the child and the adult have an active role and are partners in the routine. Over time, you can add new steps to the routine. (See examples in the facilitators' guide.)	You can help your child engage in play and home routines.	3

Term/Concept	Definition	Example of how it is used in the package	Session where it is introduced
Share	Communication to share means sharing your interest with another person. When you are communicating to share, you are trying to get the other person to notice something interesting or unexpected. Communication to share is not the same thing as sharing toys (letting someone else use your toys) or sharing food (giving someone some of your food).	There are two main reasons why we communicate: we communicate to request and communicate to share our interest with someone.	5

Risks of not completing this step:

Inadequate translation will significantly affect local implementation. The back-translation is a key step in ensuring the accuracy of the initial translation.

Note:

Where a country may wish to provide a version of the package in an official national language as well as a dialect, the translation and adaptation steps may proceed in tandem where appropriate.

4) Adaptation team meeting 1: workshop with adaptation team to make minimal linguistic and cultural adaptations and decide on adaptations to reduce barriers to attendance

Rationale:

The core local adaptation team should review results from the translation process and the comments marked by translators. The team should make minor recommended changes and simple linguistic changes, as well as simple cultural references.

Methods:

- This process will aim only to adapt minor aspects thought to be necessary at this early stage (e.g. names of characters in stories and role-plays, specific terms, language use, objects, toys, settings etc.).
- Aspects of the materials that should be considered for adaptation in phase 1 are specified in the adaptation documentation form (under "linguistic and cultural considerations") and flagged in the translated adaptation-ready copy of the facilitators and participants' guides.
- The adaptation team will also be asked to consider local legal frameworks and their limitations in suggesting changes (e.g. frameworks regarding child maltreatment, education access etc.).
- If not already determined, the adaptation team should also decide
 - the location of group sessions;
 - the frequency of group sessions (weekly or every two weeks);
 - whether childcare will be provided at group sessions (this may be essential to enable caregiver participation); and
 - whether economically disadvantaged caregivers will receive transportation costs to attend group sessions.

Independent review

- Each member of the adaptation team will independently review the translated and/or backtranslated materials and will point out any segments where translation has not been adequate, or has not captured vital elements of the package adequately, and will suggest changes.
- Team members should also note linguistic and cultural elements for consideration in the cultural adaptation process, making note of both minimal adaptations and any excerpts they may wish to review with stakeholders in the cultural acceptability/feasibility workshop.
- In their review of the materials, team members should also note contextual and methodological considerations (See adaptation documentation form "Contextual and methodological considerations"). They may wish to discuss these considerations in the cultural acceptability/ feasibility workshop with stakeholders in preparation for adaptation phase 2.
- Team members should also review the provisional plan for the inclusion of optional modules and the optional modules summaries. If the team wishes to include optional modules that have not already been translated, translation of these modules can be requested at this time.

Adaptation workshop

A variety of methods are possible to contextualize/adapt the caregiver skills training package. Organizing a workshop is an effective method since it provides an opportunity for the core local adaptation team members to discuss the issues face-to-face and reach a consensus in an efficient manner.

- The core local adaptation team should hold a one-day or half-day workshop to review the translated materials and agree on and make minimal cultural adaptations.
- The length of the workshop depends on the available resources and the available time of the participants.
- Participants who are involved from a distance should be invited to attend via telephone or Internet.
- Workshop participants should be encouraged to prepare their comments as described above before coming for the workshop.
- It is helpful to have facilitator(s) to plan and run the workshop to ensure adequate use of time.
 This person should be familiar with the training package and the adaptation process. The project manager could be a facilitator.
- At the beginning of the workshop there should be a brief presentation on the aims and methodology of the adaptation process and workshop. This should include clarification of what changes are to be made at this stage and which are to be made at a later stage.
- At the beginning of the workshop there should be a brief presentation on the aims and methodology of the adaptation process and workshop. This should include clarification of what changes are to be made at this stage and which are to be made at a later stage.
- The facilitator will lead the participants in discussing their proposed adaptations for each session, ensuring that approximately equal time is spent on each session of the course. Facilitators can plan the best approach based on their preference but taking a step-wise approach to go through each session can be helpful. Where changes are made to language in an earlier session, these changes can often be carried forward to future sessions.
- Changes will be proposed by individual members and decided on by consensus within the team.
- For each decision, team members will have the option to abstain if they do not agree with a proposed change but do not wish to block a decision from being made.

- In cases where consensus cannot be reached, the decision can be deferred until the stakeholder workshop (Step 5).
- The team will follow the specified process for documenting adaptation efforts (see adaptation documentation form in Annex 2).
- The draft list of adaptations should be finalized by the end of the workshop through discussion among the participants.
- The team will keep in mind that only essential changes should be made at this stage.
- Adaptations that affect core package components thought to be essential for the efficacy of the course should not be made at this phase. These should only be made in conjunction with experts and, if deemed absolutely necessary, by the adaptation team following the stakeholder workshop (Step 5).

Materials to be available before/during the workshop include:

- the adaptation documentation form (one hard copy for each participant);
- one hard copy of the facilitators and participants' guides;
- a laptop and projector for discussions.

Adaptations that are recommended to ensure minimal acceptability and relevance

Table 2 provides an overview of adaptations that are likely to be required to ensure acceptability and relevance of caregiver skills training materials in the local context.

Aspect	Consideration	Adaptation options	Session where introduced
Names of characters in stories and role- plays.	Names should be familiar to caregivers who are receiving the course.	Suggest names be changed as needed, while still maintaining diversity (consider common names for different ethnic and minority groups within countries/regions to ensure they are also represented).	All
How to refer to father and mother in the role-plays. In the package the parents' first names are used.	It is not appropriate in all cultures to refer to parents/ caregivers by name.	Remove the caregivers' names from the role-play and refer to them by appropriate terms.	1-8
A nurse provides information in Rosa's story in session 9.	This is not the role of a nurse in all settings. In some settings this would be another health- care provider.	Change the professional's title from "nurse" to something more appropriate. Consider the need to change illustrations to be consistent with this change.	9

Table 2. Aspects that are likely to require adaptation to ensure minimal acceptability and relevance.

Aspect	Consideration	Adaptation options	Session where introduced
Types of play materials and toys used in the demonstrations.	Play materials used should be locally available and consistent with what families would typically use.	Suggested materials are common household items, but these can be changed depending on the context. In some settings it may be appropriate to make low-cost toys. Guidance is available for this activity (5).	2
Any aspect of the facilitators' guides marked with [Consider need for adaptation].	These aspects include writing activities, which may be inappropriate in some settings, beliefs (e.g. myths) about developmental disabilities and delays), and other aspects that relate to schooling and well-being activities.	Replace, modify or remove these aspects.	1

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks may include minor difficulties in translation and cultural relevance may not be addressed prior to a workshop with stakeholders. Time with the stakeholders should be used to address broader contextual and cultural issues that require expert input rather than minor issues that could have been addressed by the core local adaptation team.

Optional: focus group discussions and/or in-depth interviews with caregivers and community-based care providers

Whenever possible, it would be useful to use qualitative methods to assess the specific needs of caregivers of children with developmental disabilities or delays in the local context. Focus group discussions and/or indepth interview with caregivers could provide useful information on: their needs and preferences concerning the parenting package; possible barriers to attending the training course and potential opportunities to link the training course to other community services or support group's activities; and the feasibility and acceptability of the caregiver skills training package's content and strategies. Focus group discussions and/ or in-depth interviews with community-based care providers (potential course facilitators) would provide useful information on the availability of care providers, their interest in the course and their perceived gaps in knowledge and skills.

5) Stakeholders' consultation

Rationale:

The input from local stakeholders is key to ensuring that the intervention is acceptable, feasible and relevant, and to ensure that the community engagement is adequate to facilitate initial and sustained implementation.

Methods:

- This workshop should be organized by the project manager, with the core local adaptation team members assisting where required.
- The workshop will be held at the target site, and will involve a facilitator(s) leading a small group of people through a discussion to better understand community values, beliefs and norms to ensure cultural competence and responsiveness to the needs of participants (e.g. reading level of the target population, values and norms, attractiveness of the intervention) community concerns, resources etc.
- The facilitator(s) should be familiar with the training package and the adaptation process. The project manager could be a facilitator.
- Participants will be approximately 8–12 key stakeholders from the broader adaptation advisory group. This group can include representatives from local health departments, potential end-users of the training course, potential future facilitators of the course, other local experts and service providers, other local agency representatives and policy-makers, and community experts who have in-depth cultural knowledge and experience with the target population, and are able to provide input into the adaptation process (e.g. local community leaders, religious leaders and elders)
- At the beginning of the workshop there should be a brief presentation on the aims and methodology of the adaptation process and workshop.
- A prepared presentation can be given on the adaptation team's understanding of the national situation, to provide information and encourage discussion on the health system and human resources organization, services and resources.
- Some countries might have already gone through the adaptation process. At the beginning the facilitator(s) can discuss the process followed in those countries as well as the outcomes.
- Participants will view excerpts from the package to guide their responses about the training materials. Suggested excerpts for review will be indicated in the adaptation-ready training materials and can be chosen by the adaptation team.
- The facilitator will lead the participants to discuss each question, ensuring that approximately equal time is spent on each question. Facilitators can plan the best approach based on their preference. The length of the workshop will depend on availability of stakeholders and facilitators.
- There should be adequate record-keeping. Depending on available resources, this could involve detailed note-taking by a dedicated person, or audio recordings which are later transcribed.

Materials to be available before/during the workshop include:

- a laptop and projector for discussions;
- caregiver skills training materials (one hard copy of relevant excerpts for each participant);
- reference documents (it is sufficient to have just one copy available in the room) such as
 - the national health and mental health policies, legislations and plans, and
 - a WHO AIMS report and any other relevant mappings of the national mental health system (e.g. Atlas country profiles for mental health).

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks may include inadequate input and engagement from key stakeholders, resulting in a finished product that cannot be implemented in a sustainable way or does not meet local needs.

6) Adaptation team meeting 2

Rationale:

The members of the core local adaptation team now have information from their review of translated materials, their own knowledge of the culture and context, and input from key stakeholders. The next step is to ensure that this knowledge is effectively utilized to inform adaptations to materials.

Methods:

- Again, organizing a workshop to contextualize/adapt the caregiver skills training package is an
 effective method since it provides an opportunity for the core local adaptation team members
 to discuss issues face-to- face and reach a consensus efficiently. However, it may be possible
 for countries to implement this process without a face-to-face workshop (e.g. by corresponding
 via email, telephone, Internet calls).
- The core local adaptation team should hold a one-day or half-day workshop to review the results from the workshop with stakeholders and decide on any adaptations to be made.
- The length of the workshop depends on the available resources and the available time of the participants. Participants who are involved from a distance should be invited to attend via telephone or Internet.
- It is helpful to have facilitator(s) to plan and run the workshop to ensure adequate use of time. This person should be familiar with the caregiver skills training package and the adaptation process. The project manager could be a facilitator.
- There should be a brief presentation at the beginning of the workshop on the aims and methodology of the adaptation process and workshop. This can include clarification of what changes are to be made at this stage.
- At this stage, the adaptation team will consider linguistic and cultural considerations as well as contextual and methodological considerations (see adaptation documentation form for suggested and optional adaptations).
- The adaptation team will again be asked to consider local legal frameworks and their limitations in suggesting changes.
- The facilitator will lead the participants to discuss their proposed adaptations for each session. Facilitators can plan the best approach based on their preference but taking a step-wise approach to go through each session can be helpful.
- Changes will be proposed by individual members and will be decided on by consensus within the team.
- For each decision, team members will have the option to abstain if they do not agree with a proposed change but do not wish to block a decision from being made.
- The team will follow the specified process for documenting adaptation efforts (see the adaptation documentation form).
- The draft list of adaptations needs to be finalized by the end of the workshop through discussion among the participants.
- The team will keep in mind that only essential changes should be made.

- The adaptation team will aim to ensure that materials are: 1) comprehensible (can they be understood by the target audience?); 2) acceptable (might some people be made to feel uncomfortable or offended?); 3) relevant (are they relevant to the lived experience of the target population?); and 4) based on a well-documented and systematic approach to translation of materials (6).
- Any indicated adaptations that will affect the identified core intervention components (key messages, tips, guided practice during home visits) but are thought to be essential for acceptability or feasibility of the course should be carefully considered. Ideally, the adapted package will be piloted and evaluated prior to broader implementation.
- If the adaptation team feels that it is necessary to make significant structural changes to the course (e.g. changing number and/or length of sessions or home visits, changing format from group to individual), this should be done only if a comprehensive plan is developed for documenting these changes and evaluating and reporting back to the effectiveness of the course.

Materials to be available before/during the workshop include:

- the adaptation documentation form (one hard copy for each participant);
- one hard copy of the facilitators and participants' guides;
- a laptop and projector for discussions;
- reference documents (it is sufficient to have just one copy available in the room) such as:
 - the national health policy, legislation and plan,
 - the national mental health policy, legislation and plan, and
 - a WHO AIMS report and any other relevant mappings of the national mental health system (e.g. Atlas country profiles for mental health).

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks may include lack of consensus. Changes should be made by consensus within the team, which allows for input from a variety of people with differing expertise. It is expected that this will reduce the likelihood of unnecessary changes or changes that affect core course components or strategies from being made.

7) Pre-pilot field-test of adapted materials

Rationale:

Prior to implementation in trials and/or in the broader populations, the adapted materials should be field-tested in a small-scale exercise, with qualitative and quantitative information gathered on the acceptability, comprehensibility, and relevance of the materials to the target population.

Methods:

Pilot

- During this phase, the adaptation team will test the materials with the target population (i.e. caregivers of children with developmental delays or disabilities).
- A target group size of eight caregivers (minimum six) will be recruited to participate.
- The target group will receive the adapted intervention, delivered in its intended format by two members of the adaptation team who will facilitate the training course. At least one of these facilitators should be a master trainer. One additional member of the adaptation team will also attend each session as an observer.
- The course will be delivered as intended based on the adaptations so far.

Process evaluation

- The observer should record any questions or comments raised by the caregivers that could potentially indicate a lack of comprehensibility, acceptability, or relevance. The observer will also be asked to note any issues with regard to instructional pacing, time allotted for activities, the physical teaching environment, etc.
- Feedback will be collected from participants and facilitators to assess for:
 - comprehensibility of instructions and messages;
 - acceptability and relevance of materials to the target audience;
 - any issues with the teaching process, flow, pacing and length of activities;
 - the need for further adaptation or modification, etc.
- Methods should include where feasible:
 - post-session and post-course feedback forms completed by participants, facilitators and observer;
 - post-course focus groups for participants;
 - post-course discussion groups with facilitators and observer;
 - collection of clinical outcome measures on selected key target variables as a trial of local planned evaluation and monitoring methods (or in preparation for a research trial when conducted in the context of research).
- Post-session feedback forms (available by request) should be completed either: 1) as paper forms by respondents with guidance from the facilitators; or 2) verbally by an assistant/facilitator. Information will be gathered using questions, rather than statements asking for a degree of agreement, in order to avoid cultural response styles where participants tend to agree with statements. Questions will inquire about session comprehensibility, relevance and congruence with the personal values of participants.
- Post-course feedback forms (available by request) should be completed at the end of the final group session. These will be completed either: 1) as paper forms by respondents with guidance from the facilitator; or 2) verbally by an assistant/facilitator. Questions will inquire about the comprehensibility, relevance and congruence of the package with the personal, family, community and religious values.

- Quantitative data will be collected on:
 - the number of sessions attended by each participant (based on the attendance record);
 - treatment fidelity based on session checklists completed by facilitators and the observer.

Qualitative evaluation

- Post-course focus groups should be conducted soon after the intervention finishes.
- One group should be conducted with caregivers; and one with facilitators and the observer.
- The groups should be conducted by a facilitator(s) who should ideally be familiar with the caregiver skills training package and the adaptation process. The project manager could be a facilitator.
- Depending on cultural norms, these groups should be somewhat informal in nature and should last no longer than 2 hours.
- An example draft interview guide is available by request, but this can be adapted by the core local adaptation team as considered necessary.
- Caregivers who have dropped out of the course could be contacted and invited to participate in a telephone interview using adaptations of the same questions.
- There should be adequate record-keeping during these focus groups/interviews. Depending
 on available resources, this could involve detailed note-taking by a dedicated person, or audio
 recordings which are later transcribed.
- The project manager and/or other members of the core local adaptation team should review the qualitative data to search for common themes in the data relating to:
 - comprehensibility of instructions and messages;
 - acceptability and relevance of materials by the target audience;
 - any issues with the teaching process, flow, pacing and length of activities;
 - barriers and facilitators of participation (compare the qualitative approach of inductive thematic analysis) (7).
- Depending on the languages spoken by the project manager and the members of the core local adaptation team assisting with this task, the transcripts may need to be translated prior to analysis.
- The information on themes should be compiled into summary sheets and distributed to the core local adaptation team for consideration of further proposed changes to the package.

Risks of not completing this step:

Risks may include information from initial testing not being collected and further changes not being made to improve the materials.

8) Adaptation team meeting 3: workshop with adaptation team to make further changes

Rationale:

The core local adaptation team now has information from all previous stages as well as from field-testing the intervention with intended participants. It is vital at this stage to see if any further revisions are needed. During this phase, all materials will be finalized, including facilitators' training materials.

Methods:

- As in previous adaptation phases, organizing a workshop is an effective method. However, it may be possible for countries to implement this process without a face-to-face workshop (e.g. through correspondence via email, telephone, Internet calls).
- It is recommended that the workshop should begin with a presentation of the results and findings of the pre-pilot field-test. The methods and processes should be similar to those of previous workshops.
- During the workshop, the adaptation team will review results from the pre-pilot field-test and decide on any further adaptations to be made. The team will consider linguistic and cultural issues as well as contextual and methodological concerns (See the adaptation documentation form for suggested and optional adaptations).
- The facilitator will lead the participants in discussing their proposed adaptations to the package, ensuring that adequate time is allocated to review each of the themes arising from the pilot-testing. Facilitators can plan the best approach based on their preference but taking a step-wise approach to go through each theme can be helpful.
- Again, the adaptation team will follow the specified process for documenting adaptation efforts (see the adaptation documentation form), and the draft list of adaptations should be finalized by the end of the workshop through discussion among the participants.
- The adaptation team will again aim to ensure that the materials are comprehensible, acceptable and relevant. The team will also aim to ensure that the course is feasible in the given context and will consider adaptations that reduce barriers to participation.
- Any indicated adaptations that will affect the identified core package components but are thought to be essential for acceptability or feasibility should be carefully considered. Ideally, the adapted package will be piloted and evaluated prior to broader implementation.
- If the adaptation team feels that it is necessary to make significant structural changes, these should be made only if a comprehensive plan is developed for documenting these changes and a plan made for evaluating and reporting on the effectiveness of the package.

Materials to be available before/during the workshop include:

- the adaptation documentation form (one hard copy for each participant);
- one hard copy of the facilitators and participants' guides;
- a laptop and projector for discussions;
- any other reference document as relevant (the national health and mental health policies, legislations and plans; WHO AIMS reports; Atlas country profiles for mental health and any other relevant mappings of the national mental health system).

Risks of not completing this step:

Changes should be made by consensus within the team, allowing for input from a variety of people with differing expertise. It is expected that this will reduce the likelihood of unnecessary changes or changes that affect core course components or aims. Further, information from the pre-pilot testing is vital for determining the utility of the adapted package with the target population and should therefore be incorporated into decisions about further adaptations.

Part 2: Implementation considerations

Below are some key implementation considerations.

Reducing barriers to attendance

Some options for consideration for implementation (dependent on resources available) include:

- reimbursement of transport costs to attend sessions;
- provision of childcare where possible (this may be essential in some settings to allow caregivers to participate);
- provision of a small snack or meal;
- provision of a small gift (such as soap, a children's book).

Involvement of all caregivers

- It should be standard practice to invite any two caregivers per family to attend the group sessions. This does not necessarily have to be a relative of the child but could be any important person in the child's life who provides regular care (e.g. a formal carer, friend). Minors should not be invited to attend the training course as main caregivers (except for minors who are parents of a child with a developmental disability or delay).
- It is not recommended to invite only one parent/caregiver from each family (e.g. only mothers, or only fathers) because of the resultant structural discrimination.
- However, a decision to only invite one parent/caregiver is justifiable if the adaptation team concludes that extending an invitation to a second caregiver is likely to disempower the primary caregiver and affect that caregiver's participation and learning (i.e. in situations where there is a large power differential which puts the primary caregiver at a disadvantage). Other caregivers will be offered the opportunity to take part in home encounters with the facilitators and in specific sessions.

Methods to encourage family involvement

- Consider providing two copies of the participants' guide per family if appropriate.
- This would give caregivers who attend alone an opportunity to share the training materials with another important person in their child's life who may not live in the same home.
- This also reduces the burden on the primary caregiver and sends an important message to the family that their contribution is both wanted and needed.

Scheduling

- It will be important for country teams to consider the scheduling of groups carefully.
- Any additional burden on caregivers should be considered.
- The inclusion of all caregivers may be enhanced by scheduling groups outside of working hours.

Addition of a booster session to maintain participant progress

- Depending on local resources, the adaptation and implementation team may wish to schedule one or more "booster" session(s) for participants to meet together and share their experiences.
- This can be a less formal group session. It may take the form of a peer support group, rather than a facilitator-led group. Preferably it would be provided as an optional session, rather than being compulsory. Timing is optional, but one to two months after conclusion of the training course could be considered.

Delivering brief training courses by delivering only some components

- The adaptation and implementation team may feel strongly that the training course can be delivered only in a briefer format.
- If this is the case, the team could consider delivering only certain training sessions.
- In almost all cases, sessions 1 and 2 which introduce the course and foundational skills should be delivered. Session 3 forms a standalone module on building routines using play and home activities; sessions 4 and 5 form a module on communication; session 6 is a module on teaching adaptive behaviour (dressing and hand-washing) and skills and sessions 7 and 8 form a module on managing behaviour. Session 9 also forms a module on caregiver well-being and problem-solving. Additionally, session 9 provides a review of the course, so ideally would be delivered in most instances.

Community awareness and reduction of stigma

- In certain settings it may be appropriate for the local caregiver skills training team to conduct community awareness, stigma reduction and disability advocacy activities prior to conducting the caregiver skills training course.
- This must be conducted with an understanding of cultural beliefs, norms and practices.

Part 3: Core components of the training package

Core components are the key elements or characteristics that are thought to be essential to the effectiveness of the caregiver skills training package. Given their importance, changes to these elements of the package are not recommended because they may have a negative impact on the ability of the caregiver skills training course to meet its goals (2).

At times there might be conflict between ensuring cultural acceptability and maintaining fidelity to the core components of the intervention. For instance, the cultural adaptation team may wish to remove or de-emphasize certain components of the package for cultural reasons (e.g. non-violent discipline, social rewards). In circumstances where the local adaptation team wishes to make substantial changes to core components of the package, this can be done only after careful consultation and where there is a strong rationale for these adaptations to improve the effectiveness of the caregiver skills training course at country level. Such adaptations must be well documented and backed by evaluation data from either field-testing by the local adaptation team or a research trial.

Core content and conceptual components – the knowledge, skills, attitudes and values taught in the course

Examples of changes that should not be made without consultation with experts:

- changes to or removal of key messages or tips;
- removal of group session activities (demonstrations, role-plays, case stories, discussion);
- removal of a session;
- removal of home visits;
- removal of guided practice during home visits;
- removal of goal-setting (setting individualized goals for the family);
- removal of home practice.

Core instructional components - the teaching methods used in the course

Examples of changes that should not be made without consultation with experts:

- making adaptations or changes to teaching methods and activities such as group discussions, work in pairs, the amount or intensity of home practice, etc;
- eliminating learning activities or altering the delivery instructions for facilitators (e.g. reading the description of a demonstration rather than performing the demonstration).

Core implementation components – the logistics that make for a good learning experience Examples of changes that should not be made without consultation with experts:

- changing the facilitator-to-participant ratio;
- changing the sequence of group sessions;
- expanding or restricting the definition of the target population for the course.

Part 4: Choosing to make optional modules available

Additional caregiver skills training facilitators' guides will be available for implementation to address the following:

- 1) Strategies and supports for children who have little or no spoken language.
- 2) Caregiver well-being.

These are considered as optional modules.

Local teams may decide, on the basis of local needs and available resources, whether and what optional modules will be part of the intervention. Local teams will also decide whether optional modules will be delivered whenever the intervention is provided or will be delivered only to groups of caregivers that would – on the basis of the facilitators' assessment – benefit most from them.

• The adaptation team should develop a provisional plan for optional modules This plan will show which modules the adaptation team intends to make available and will train facilitators to deliver. This will best be done in phase 1 after the review of available local services.

The provisional plan should be based on the perceived or documented needs of intended participants, feasibility considerations (economic and human resources, including resources for training and supervising facilitators) and perceived acceptability to participants (considering length of the training course and participant retention).

If the team wishes to collect more information before making a plan, stakeholders can be consulted at the cultural acceptability/feasibility workshop. The translated summaries of the modules can be used to aid in this process.

- Optional modules designated for inclusion should be translated and adapted If the adaptation team's provisional plan is to include optional modules, these modules should be translated and subjected to the same adaptation process as the other materials.
- The team should collect feedback on both the provisional plan for including/excluding optional modules and the modules themselves
 The adaptation team can collect feedback on the plan for including or excluding optional modules during the stakeholder workshop. The comprehensibility, acceptability and relevance of optional modules designated for inclusion can also be evaluated. Further information can be collected from the pre-pilot field-trial.
- Guidelines for determining whether available optional modules should be offered to a specific group of participants will be included in the training materials
 The decision to make optional modules available and train facilitators to deliver them at the local level will be made as part of the adaptation process. The decision to offer available optional modules to a given group of participants will be made by facilitators in conjunction with master trainers and supervisors.

Part 5: redesigning the caregiver skills training course from group to individual format and other significant modifications

Sites may wish to redesign the course so that it can be delivered in individual sessions rather than in group sessions. This will be important in areas where there are not enough participants to form a group, when participants cannot participate in groups due to the geographical, economic, political, social or cultural situation, or when there is an existing health intervention that entails regular home visits to families. Given the types of interactive learning activities in the group sessions and the reliance on live demonstrations to teach concepts, the creation of individual sessions would require a substantial redesign of the training package and would be best done in consultation with experts. The plan for how the caregiver skills training package could be redesigned will need to be tailored to the local context and resources.

References

- 1. Bernal G, Sáez-Santiago E. Culturally centered psychosocial interventions. J Community Psychol. 2006 2006;34(2):121–32.
- 2. Firpo-Triplett R, Fuller TR. General adaptation guidance: a guide to adapting evidence-based sexual health curricula. Scotts Valley (CA): ETR Advancing health equity; 2012 (https://www.etr.org/ebi/assets/File/GeneralAdaptationGuidanceFINAL.pdf, accessed 25 November 2021).
- 3. Wild D, Grove A, Martin M, Eremenco S, McElroy S, Verjee-Lorenz A et al. Principles of good practice for the translation and cultural adaptation process for patient-reported outcomes (PRO) measures: report of the ISPOR task force for translating adaptation. Value Heal [Internet]. 2005;8(2):94–104 (http://www.ispor.org/workpaper/research_practices/pro_tca.asp, accessed 25 November 2021).
- 4. Early childhood development and disability. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 (https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/75355/9789241504065_eng.pdf, accessed 25 November 2021.
- 5. Community led action for children. Learning toys production guide for early learning programs and home play (from birth to 6 years). Melbourne: Plan International Australia; 2014 (https://plan-international.org/publications/learning-toys-production-guide-early-learning-programmes-and-home-play, accessed 25 November 2021).
- 6. Van Ommeren M, Sharma B, Thapa S, Makaju R, Prasain D, Bhattarai R et al. Preparing instruments for transcultural research: use of the translation monitoring form with Nepali-speaking Bhutanese refugees. Transcult Psychiatry. 1999;36(3):285–301.
- 7. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qual Res Psychol. 2006;3(2):77–101.

Annex 1: Resource list for caregivers (participants' guide template)

A list of local resources should be compiled, added to the participants' guide for each session, and made available to facilitators and trainers. Here below a template to provide a contextualized list of resources for caregivers.

Services and resources for families

This information describes local services and resources for you, your child and your family. [To be completed based on the local context]

What can I do if my child is ill?

The text here will describe a plan of action and list local resources (e.g. addresses, hours and telephone numbers of medical clinics or local hospital) with associated requirements and fees for visits. Information could also include helplines and websites.

What can I do if I think my child might have been hurt or abused by someone?

The text here will describe a plan of action and local resources (e.g. addresses, hours and telephone numbers of medical clinics or local hospital) with associated requirements and fees for visits as well as information about social service agencies and how to contact them. Information could also include helplines and websites.

What can I do if my family needs things that we do not have?

The text here will describe a plan of action and local resources for food, clothing, diapers etc. (e.g. religious and community organizations and social service agencies and how to contact them). Information could also include helplines and websites.

What can I do if there are difficulties at home?

The text here will describe local resources for issues such as intimate partner violence or psychological abuse, problems with alcohol or substance use (e.g. addresses, hours and telephone numbers of medical clinics or local hospital) with associated requirements and fees for visits, as well as religious and community organizations and social service agencies. Information could also include helplines and websites.

What can I do if my family has other challenges?

The text here will describe local resources for housing, shelter and legal assistance, resources for immigrant and refugee families etc. (e.g. addresses, hours and telephone numbers of social service and community agencies). Information could also include helplines and websites.

What can I do if I feel I am not coping well?

The text here will describe local resources for health and mental health issues (e.g. addresses, hours and telephone numbers of medical clinics or local hospital) with associated requirements and fees for visits, as well as religious and community organizations and social service agencies. Information could also include helplines and websites.

Other messages could be included here.

Annex 2: Adaptation documentation form

Many adaptations described below in Table 3 are recommended and can be made in phase 1 of the adaptation process if deemed appropriate by the adaptation team (See the adaptation plan). Items labelled "consider" can be considered for adaptation in phases 2 and 3. Items labelled "optional in certain contexts" can be considered in phases 2 and 3 but are not appropriate for adaptation in the context of multi-centre research studies.

Remember:

1. Make only the most essential cultural adaptations to the content of the training package.

2. Consider adaptations to make the package more suitable for your local context and more responsive to the needs of local participants.

Table B.1. Form for documenting proposed adaptations to the caregiver skills training materials and delivery strategies.

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
LINGUISTIC AND CULTURAL CONSIDERATIONS (Modification of language, content, metaphors, concepts and goals in order to increase comprehensibility, cultural acceptability and relevance for participants)				
LANGUAGE (vocabulary, phrasing, verbal style and other aspects of l	anguage should be	similar to those of	the intended participants)
Translation into selected local language				
Focus on key terms to ensure the meaning of the term is maintained during the translation (see part 3))				
Language use (vocabulary, phrasing, verbal style etc.) is culturally appropriate				
Language use and literacy level are consistent with those of the intended participants				

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
Technical terms are replaced by plain language (easy-to-read language) whenever useful				
Technical terms are explained by the addition of culturally and linguistically appropriate explanatory notes				
CONTENT (cultural knowledge about values, customs and traditions)				
Examples, facilitator role plays, stories and videos reflect the reality of the intended participants (i.e. appropriate character names [recommended] and genders, objects, settings, cultural references, local terminology and wording, etc.)				
Colour scheme for materials is culturally appropriate				
<u>Consider:</u> Incorporation of local practices (e.g. addition of culturally- appropriate welcomes or other rituals to group sessions)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Addition of relevant content to make the package more appealing to the intended participants (i.e. additional examples, pictures, stories etc.)				
METAPHORS (symbols and concepts; sayings, idioms)				
Metaphors used are culturally relevant				
(e.g. "behaviour thermometer" in behaviour sessions)				
<u>Consider:</u> Addition of local idioms or sayings to describe caregiver or child emotional states or behaviours				
Optional in certain contexts: Addition of relevant explanatory stories and local examples				

Adaptation and implementation Guide

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
CONCEPTS (conceptual constructs i.e. how a child's difficulties are	conceptualized and	communicated - in	cluding availability of ling	guistic terms
Complex or ambiguous concepts are explained with additional explanatory notes				
Plan to address cultural conceptions of the causes of developmental disabilities (e.g. divine punishment for caregivers' wrongdoing, curses/ hexes etc.) within the package. Possible methods of addressing these conceptions include adding a small component to the package, such as a group discussion, to respectfully acknowledge participants' conceptual constructs and to identify any associated barriers to participation in the course (e.g. a belief that their child cannot make progress).				
Plan to address cultural conceptions of the reasons for a child's difficult or challenging behaviour (e.g. inherent badness/"bad child", spirit possession etc.) within the package				
Plan to address cultural conceptions of the reasons why the child is not talking (e.g. spirit possession etc.) within the package				
<u>Consider:</u> Plan to address religious or other cultural concepts within the package				
GOALS (reflecting cultural knowledge of values, customs and tradition	ons)			
Optional in certain contexts: Adaptations intended to increase emphasis on culturally important secondary goals of the course (e.g. to promote caregiver well-being, human rights, social connectedness etc.)				

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
CONTEXTUAL AND METHODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS (Changes the social, economic, political and cultural context in which participal roles, availability of social support, and economic and human resource barriers to participation)	nts live. Considerat	ions include cultura	I processes, norms and v	values, gender
Ensure that training materials, activities and evaluation methods are consistent with the literacy level of the intended participants in the language of instruction (e.g. additional illustrations could be added to the participant manual, the text could be changed or reduced, post-session evaluation questionnaires could be replaced by interviews etc.)				
Reduce barriers to participation for people with disabilities (e.g. select a location that does not present physical barriers, permit a support person to attend group sessions etc.)				
Determine which of the optional modules, if any, will be offered (considering participants' needs, relevance of the content, feasibility, economic and human resources, training and supervision, acceptability etc.)				
Make changes to additional components of the package to fit the local context (e.g. text message reminders should be replaced with alternative methods where mobile telephones are not common, reminders can be sent by other appropriate staff members when facilitators have a high workload)				

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Increase general accessibility (e.g. provision of childcare during group sessions, childcare stipends, transportation or transportation subsidies, reminders etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Increase feasibility (e.g. seek "buy-in" from other family members, especially those who may influence access to the course, by involvement in initial home visit or a course orientation, inclusion/exclusion of other family members in group sessions, choice of location, scheduling of group sessions etc.)				
Optional in certain contexts: Increase engagement and accessibility for male caregivers (e.g. role of family members, outreach and promotion methods, scheduling and timing of sessions and home visits [such as after-hours options, planning well in advance], gender choice for characters in role-plays, stories and examples, additional facilitator training etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Increase acceptability for participants (e.g. by providing food, beverages or other adaptations to improve participants' physical comfort), providing small incentives for participation in group sessions (e.g. soap, children's books etc.)				
Optional in certain contexts: Increase acceptability at the community level (e.g. develop a plan to promote community engagement and reduce stigma, examine the fit with other interventions and services etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Reduce risk of stigma or discrimination (e.g. discuss caregivers' perceptions or concerns, community liaison activities, methods and means of outreach and promotion etc.)				

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change
Optional in certain contexts: Increase participant engagement and buy-in (e.g. pre-training group orientation session, discussion of caregivers' concerns that their parenting skills may be judged or criticized, promotion methods and strategies, adaptations to increase social support or group cohesion etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Increase participant retention in the course (e.g. telephone call or in-person "catch-up" when a caregiver misses a session, one-on-one support for caregivers with more complex challenges etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Structural adaptations (e.g. choice of delivery location, flexibility in schedule of group sessions or home visits etc.)				
<u>Optional in certain contexts:</u> Tailored supervision structure and tools for facilitators (e.g. customized supervision structure/plan, addition of job aids, etc.)				
Optional in certain contexts: Adaptation of training and supervision methods to match facilitators' experience levels (e.g. offering additional support or supervision, observation of group sessions by supervisors etc.)				
Consider only with careful evaluation procedures in place: Significant structural changes to training materials, including reducing the length or number of sessions, or delivery in individual rather than group sessions.				

Adaptation and implementation Guide

Adaptation principle (1)	Implementation (what changed)	Rationale (why it changed)	Evidence base (advice of adaptation team, adaptation workshop, pre-pilot, literature etc.)	Adaptation phase/date of change		
PEOPLE (participant–facilitator relationship; ethnic / racial / gender / cultural similarities and differences)						
Consider facilitator-participant, ethnic, racial, gender, language and						
cultural/subcultural similarities and differences						
(Comment on these factors and their importance)						
Consider other participant-facilitator contextual factors (e.g. lived						
experience, urban-rural background, socioeconomic status etc.)						
Consider cultural competency of facilitator depending on the degree of						
mismatch described above						
(Comment on this)						

Caregiver skills training for families of children with developmental delays or disabilities

World Health Organization 20 Avenue Appia CH-1211 Geneva 27 Switzerland

